2006

Ivan Radman v. Flanders Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2006).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

At the core of this matter is the interpretation of a written stock merger agreement between the parties. In addressing the Radmans’ claims, the trial court found that one section of the written agreement, Section 9(a), was ambiguous and required consideration of extrinsic evidence to determine the intent of the parties. Ultimately, the trial court ruled in favor of the Radmans on their claim pursuant to Section 9(a) of the Merger Agreement. However, with regard to the contractual provisions at issue in the counterclaims asserted by the defendant, the trial court made specific findings that those provisions were unambiguous. Notwithstanding these findings, the trial court allowed the defendant to introduce a substantial amount of extrinsic evidence regarding pre-merger statements allegedly made by Ivan Radman as the basis for defendant’s claims that the Radmans had breached the warranties the trial court had determined were unambiguous. The trial court then found that a breach of the warranties had occurred based upon that extrinsic evidence.

Once the trial court found that a breach had occurred based upon its acceptance and consideration of extrinsic evidence, it then recharacterized the parties’ agreement as

an asset purchase agreement (rather than a stock merger as specifically set forth in the written agreement) and awarded Flanders a return of 100% of the purchase price that the trial court determined Flanders had paid for certain electric melters that were included in the assets GFI owned and that Flanders acquired in the merger through its acquisition of GFI's stock. In making its determination, the trial court failed to allocate any value at all to significant assets that were included in the transaction. Furthermore, by recharacterizing the agreement as an asset purchase agreement, the trial court failed to hold counterclaim plaintiffs to their burden of showing whether, and by what amount, the alleged breaches of warranty had diminished the value of the GFI stock acquired by Flanders pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

Accordingly, the issues presented herein may be summarized as follows:

1. Did the trial court err in allowing extrinsic evidence to be introduced at trial regarding alleged pre-merger statements related to specific performance of certain items of equipment when no warranties or guaranties of such performance standards were included within the parties' written agreement and the trial court had specifically determined that the warranties contained within the written agreement were not ambiguous?¹

¹ This issue was preserved repeatedly at the trial level. One instance may be found at R. at 4941, pp. 21-22.

This issue is a matter of contract interpretation, which the court reviews for correctness. WebBank v. Am. Gen. Annuity Serv. Corp., 2002 UT 88, ¶¶ 18-22, 54 P.3d 1139.

2. Did the trial court err by improperly characterizing the Merger Agreement as an asset purchase agreement and determining that the entire purchase price paid by Flanders was attributable to only three individual assets?²

3. Did the trial court err by awarding damages to Flanders based on a valuation method that focused solely on the value of individual assets rather than a determination of the impact of the alleged breach of warranty on the value of the stock acquired by Flanders?³

4. Even if a correct determination of damages for Flanders' breach of warranty claims could be made based upon a valuation of specific assets, were the trial court's determinations that (a) \$1,162,528 of the purchase price was allocable to the electric melters; (b) that other equipment had no value; and (c) that the electric melters had no value clearly erroneous?⁴

² This issue first became apparent in the court's memorandum decision dated October 6, 2005, in which it apportioned the purchase price for the GFI stock to three specific assets. R. at 4296. The Radmans preserved this issue in their objections to the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. R. at 4613, objection to Flanders' Proposed Finding No. 54.

This issue is a matter of contract interpretation, which the Court reviews for correctness. WebBank v. Am. Gen. Annuity Serv. Corp., 2002 UT 88, ¶¶ 18-22, 54 P.3d 1139.

³ Preservation of this issue may be found at R. at 4613.

Whether the trial court applied the correct rule for measuring damages is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. Mahana v. Onyx Acceptance Corp., 2004 UT 59, ¶ 25, 96 P.3d 893.

⁴ Preservation of this issue may be found at R. at 4614-16.

This issue presents a mixed question of law and fact. This Court reviews the trial court's factual determinations under a clearly erroneous standard. Alta Indus. Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d 1282, 1286 (Utah 1993). Questions of law are reviewed for

5. Did the trial court err when it offset Flanders' award against the Radmans' award prior to calculating pre-judgment interest on the Radmans' award when only the Radmans' award was entitled to pre-judgment interest and the awards arose at different times?⁵

6. Does the cumulative effect of the trial court's evidentiary and procedural rulings lead to a conclusion that there is a reasonable likelihood that unfairness or injustice resulted at trial?⁶

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Trial of this matter occurred over the course of nine days during three different time frames: May 3-4, 2004, October 12-14, 2004 and July 19-22, 2005. Subsequent to the trial, the trial court issued a memorandum decision on October 6, 2005 and, after considering post-trial motions and briefing, a second memorandum decision dated February 10, 2006. The trial court's findings of facts and conclusions of law were

correctness. United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Co., 870 P.2d 880, 885 (Utah 1993).

5 Preservation of this issue may be found at R. at 4623.

This issue presents a question of law that the Court reviews for correctness. United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Co., 870 P.2d 880, 885 (Utah 1993).

6 The record is replete with instances in which the Radmans' counsel objected to the introduction of evidence, moved to strike testimony or evidence, and filed motions in limine to prevent the introduction of evidence. Examples may be found at R. at 4942, pp. 4-26.

The Court will not reverse on mere error but only if it is substantial and prejudicial to the extent that there is a reasonable likelihood that unfairness or injustice has resulted. Brown v. Richards, 840 P.2d 143, 149 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

entered on April 17, 2006 and the Entry of Judgment against the Radmans for the net judgment was entered on July 3, 2006.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. G.F.I., Inc. (“GFI”) was a relatively small, Salt Lake City-based business involved in manufacturing and selling fiberglass and fiberglass air filters. R. at 2872.

Flanders Corporation (“Flanders”) is a publicly traded, North Carolina corporation involved in the manufacture and sale of fiberglass air filters. R. at 14, 371.
2. On November 26, 1997, and pursuant to a merger agreement dated November 1, 1997 (the “Merger Agreement”), defendant Flanders, through its subsidiary Flanders Acquisitions, acquired all of the stock of GFI from the Radmans. R. at 508–09, 521. Add. 1.
3. A recital of the Merger Agreement stated “each issued and outstanding share of G.F.I. Capital Stock (the ‘G.F.I. Capital Stock’ or ‘G.F.I. Shares’) will be converted into shares of Flanders Capital Stock (the ‘Flanders Capital Stock’).” R. at 508. Add. 1. Section 1(d) of the Merger Agreement then specifically provided that “[a]s of the Effective Time, . . . , all G.F.I. Capital Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares of Flanders Capital Stock” R. at 509. Add. 1.
4. Prior to the Merger Agreement, GFI was an ongoing business operation, utilizing its equipment, technology and personnel to manufacture fiberglass, which was

either incorporated into air filter products that GFI manufactured and sold, or sold in rolls to other filter manufacturers. R. at 2872.

5. In the mid-1990s, the Radmans began developing a new process for making fiberglass that utilized an electric, instead of gas, furnace to melt the glass. R. at 4860. Add. 4.
6. Up until that time, all facilities that produced fiberglass using the Modigliani system utilized gas melters. R. at 4860. Add. 4.
7. GFI possessed four major categories of equipment at the time of the merger: (1) gas melters, (2) electric melters, (3) a curing oven, and (4) filter-making machines. In addition to these major categories, GFI possessed numerous other items of equipment that were utilized as part of its ongoing business operations. A comprehensive list of the property GFI possessed can be found in the trial transcript and exhibits. R. at 4944, pp. 609–84, Add. 7; Pl. Exh. 5, pp. GFI0521–0523, Add. 5.
8. Until Flanders purchased GFI, Flanders procured the fiberglass used to manufacture its air filters from outside vendors. After acquiring GFI in November of 1997, Flanders began manufacturing a portion of its own fiberglass in-house at the GFI facility. R. at 371.
9. Flanders was still using the electric melters to produce fiberglass in July 2005 (the last phase of the evidentiary portion of the trial). R. at 4947, pp. 579-580.
10. Nearly two and one-half years after the merger, in May of 2000, Flanders requested that Ivan Radman sign a confidentiality agreement in order to protect the

technology it had received in the merger and to prevent Mr. Radman from disclosing that information to third parties. Paragraph 9 of the Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement states:

“Radman understands and acknowledges that such Confidential Information had been developed or obtained by Flanders by the investment of a significant time, effort, and expertise, and that such Confidential Information provides Flanders with a significant competitive advantage in its business.”

R. at 4947, pp. 499–501, Pl. Exh. 44. Add. 6.

11. Flanders continued to list the value of the GFI acquisition on its SEC filings for five years after the merger (valuing it at \$1,394,000, including \$547,000 of goodwill). R. at 4942, pp. 252-53 and R. at 4943, pp. 312-17, 320-26, Pl. Exh. 23, 24.
12. Flanders’ allocation of \$847,000 to tangible assets and \$547,000 to goodwill was the result of a collaboration between Ivan Radman (on behalf of GFI), Steve Clark (on behalf of Flanders), and Flanders’ accounting team. R. at 4943, p. 311.
13. Under the Merger Agreement, the Radmans’ shares in GFI were converted into shares of Flanders Capital Stock, and the Radmans received 187,502 restricted shares of Flanders Capital Stock. R. at 508–09, 536.
14. The restriction on the shares of Flanders stock provided that the Radmans could not sell them for at least one year after the date of the merger. R. at 4939, p. 14.
15. Section 9(a) of the Merger Agreement also included the following provision:

“If at the time any G.F.I. Shareholders sell any of the 187,502 shares of Flanders Capital Stock at a price below \$8.00 per share, and the average trading price for the preceding three business days of Flanders Capital Stock as listed on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange is

below \$8.00 per share, Flanders shall deliver additional restricted shares of Flanders Common Stock to such G.F.I. Shareholders in order to maintain the Market Price (the “Short Fall”), with such Short Fall shares valued at the Market Price.”

R. at 528. Add. 1.

16. When the Radmans were able to sell their shares of Flanders stock, the trading price on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange had fallen significantly below \$8.00 per share. R. at 3-4, 4870. Add. 4.

17. The Radmans notified Flanders of the Short Fall and requested that additional shares of stock be issued in order to maintain the Market Price as provided by the Merger Agreement. R. at 4, 2873, 4870. Add. 4.

18. Although Flanders did tender additional shares of Flanders capital stock to the Radmans as the result of their request that Flanders perform under the Merger Agreement, the Radmans did not believe the additional shares issued by Flanders were sufficient to fulfill Flanders’ obligation pursuant to the Merger Agreement. R. at 4-5, 4870. Add. 4.

19. On May 21, 2001, the Radmans filed their complaint in the underlying action seeking damages for Flanders’ failure to issue a sufficient number of shares of Flanders Common Stock in order to maintain the Market Price. R. at 1-9.

20. Specifically, the Radmans alleged that Flanders breached the Merger Agreement when it failed and refused to transfer to the Radmans additional shares of Flanders Common Stock to compensate the Radmans for the Short Fall between the market and selling prices of Flanders stock. R. at 323-332.

21. The trial court ruled prior to trial, in connection with a motion for summary judgment by Flanders, that Section 9(a) of the Merger Agreement was ambiguous. R. at 4939, pp. 59-60, R. at 4288-89. Add. 2.
22. Based upon the trial court's determination that Section 9(a) was ambiguous, it considered extrinsic evidence at trial on that contractual provision, and determined that the parties intended that the Radmans be issued sufficient Short Fall shares to insure that they would receive a total purchase price of \$1.5 Million. R. at 4865-71. Add. 4.
23. After determining that Flanders had breached Section 9(a) of the Merger Agreement, the trial court awarded damages in the amount of \$547,904.50 to the Radmans, based upon the parties' stipulation to that amount as the calculation of damages in the event the trial court ruled in favor of the Radmans on their claim against Flanders. R. at 2873, 4871. Add. 4.
24. Only after the Radmans filed the underlying action against Flanders did Flanders allege that the Radmans had breached the Merger Agreement. R. at 4943, p. 299. In its counterclaim, Flanders sought relief for claims of breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, fraud and intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, and unjust enrichment based upon allegations that the Radmans had breached certain warranties in the Merger Agreement. R. at 13-28.

25. Flanders' claims for fraud, intentional misrepresentation and negligent representation were based upon allegations that Ivan Radman had made statements regarding specific standards of performance of the electric melters. R. at 1116-43.
26. Prior to trial, Flanders dismissed its claims for fraud and intentional misrepresentation and negligent misrepresentation with prejudice. R. at 2869, 4939, pp. 4-5.
27. As the action progressed, there were three warranties in the Merger Agreement that became the focus of Flanders' claims against the Radmans:
- a. ¶ 3(d): Financial Statements. The financial statements contained in the unaudited tax returns of G.F.I. for the years ended June 30, 1994, June 30 1995, and June 30, 1996, which are attached hereto as Schedule 3(d) to the Disclosure Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "Disclosure Schedule"), fairly present the financial condition of G.F.I. as at the dates described therein. R. at 513. Add. 1.
 - b. ¶ 3(h): Assets. Except as set forth on the Disclosure Schedule, G.F.I. owns, possesses and controls and has good and marketable title to all of its assets, free and clear of any mortgage, lien, claim, defect, charge, encumbrance and right of third parties. Such assets are in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and conform to applicable ordinances, regulations, building, zoning and other laws and directives. G.F.I. enjoys exclusive, peaceful and undisturbed possession under all equipment and other leases to which it is a party. All such leases are identified on the Disclosure Schedules, are valid and enforceable in accordance with their terms, and no party thereto is in default thereunder. R. at 513. Add. 1.
 - c. ¶ 2(h): No Material Misstatements. The G.F.I. Shareholders have not made any material misstatement of fact or omitted to state any material fact necessary or desirable to make complete, accurate and not misleading every representation and warranty *set forth herein*. R. at 510 (emphasis added). Add. 1.
28. The Merger Agreement also contains an integration clause, which states:

“(f) Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the exhibits and documents referred to herein which are a part hereof, contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter contained herein and may be amended only by a written instrument executed by all parties hereto or their respective successors or assigns. ***There are no restrictions, promises, warranties, covenants, or undertakings other than those expressly set forth or referred to herein.*** Any paragraph headings or table of contents contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.”

R. at 532 (emphasis added). Add. 1.

29. The trial court made specific findings that the warranties contained within the

Merger Agreement were not ambiguous. R. at 4887, 4889. Add. 4.

30. In finding that the warranty contained within ¶ 3(h) of the Merger Agreement was

not ambiguous, the trial court stated that such section was capable of only one

reasonable interpretation and interpreted the phrase “good operating condition,

ordinary wear and tear excepted” to mean “that the equipment performs the

function expected of a similar piece of equipment in the industry to the standards

of the industry, modified to take into account the effects of the equipment’s age

and prior wear.” R. at 4889. Add. 4.

31. In spite of these specific findings, the trial court allowed extrinsic evidence to be

admitted at trial regarding pre-merger statements allegedly made by Ivan Radman

regarding specific performance standards of the electric melters. R. at 3074-92,

3778.

32. Flanders acknowledged at trial that guaranties of the specific performance standards allegedly made by Ivan Radman pre-merger were not expressly included in the Merger Agreement. R. at 4943, p. 295-296. See also R. at 504-630, Add. 1.
33. In addition to allowing the introduction of extrinsic evidence related to specific performance standards, the trial court then based its conclusion that the Radmans had breached the warranties within the Merger Agreement on such extrinsic evidence. R. at 4294. Add. 2.
34. Michael Lemmon, Flanders' damages expert, did not attempt or profess to conduct a valuation of either the GFI stock or the individual equipment, but instead assumed the value of the equipment was zero based solely on his conversations with Flanders' representatives. R. at 4945, pp. 203-04.
35. In determining the amount of damages due to Flanders as the result of the trial court's finding that the Radmans had breached the warranties in the Merger Agreement, the trial court stated that it would be pure speculation based upon the evidence introduced by Flanders at trial to try to determine what amount Flanders spent on repair of the electric melters rather than their subsequent modification and redesign. R. at 4295. Add. 2.
36. The trial court further stated that in light of the numerous modifications made to the melters, it would be next to impossible to determine if later repairs were the result of initial problems with the machines or the upgrades to the melters that were made by Flanders. R. at 4295. Add. 2.

37. The trial court then found that “even more convoluted” would be a determination of Flanders’ alleged lost profits and that, in any event, Flanders did not mitigate its damages because it chose to modify the equipment rather than repair it. Therefore, the trial court specifically found that neither the costs associated with the modifications and upgrades nor profits lost during the period of time the machines were being modified and upgraded were appropriate measures of Flanders’ damages. R. at 4295-4296. Add. 2.
38. However, the trial court then concluded that Flanders was entitled to a refund of 100% of the purchase price it “paid for machines that were not in good operating condition.” R. at 4296. Add. 2.
39. To arrive at that conclusion, the trial court determined that the entire purchase price Flanders paid to acquire the GFI stock was attributable to only three specific assets: (1) inventory (\$88,353); (2) accounts receivable (\$249,119); and (3) electric melters (\$1,162,528) (purchase price of \$1,500,000 - \$88,353 - \$249,119) and stated that there was no evidence that the other equipment that was part of the acquisition had value beyond minimal scrap value and that there was no value attributable to GFI’s “goodwill.” R. at 4296. Add. 2.
40. The trial court initially awarded the Radmans pre-judgment interest on their damages but made no award of pre-judgment interest to Flanders. R. at 4292-97.
41. Following the trial court’s October 6, 2005 Memorandum Decision, Flanders filed a motion for clarification regarding the award and calculation of pre-judgment interest on the amount of damages awarded to the Radmans. R. at 4348-50.

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