2006

Ivan Radman v. Flanders Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Radmans' argument that the trial court improperly admitted "extrinsic evidence" is insufficiently briefed, since the allegedly improper evidence is never identified. Moreover, the trial court was permitted to hear any evidence that might have been "extrinsic" for the purposes of determining whether the contract was ambiguous and

to determine factually whether a breach occurred, and there is no showing that the court used any such evidence for any other purpose.

The Radmans' argument that the trial court incorrectly interpreted the warranties at issue also fails. The trial court found that those warranties were unambiguous and interpreted them according to their plain language. The Radmans have not shown how those interpretations were wrong or even advanced alternative interpretations based on the contract language.

The Radmans' argument that the trial court erred in its findings regarding the damages suffered by Flanders fails for several reasons. First, the trial court used the proper measure of damages for a breach of warranty – the difference between the value of the particular asset as warranted and its actual value. The trial court's factual findings as to those values was adequately supported by the evidence, and the Radmans' challenges to those factual findings were insufficiently marshalled and briefed.

The trial court properly ruled that Flanders' award had to be offset against the Radmans' award prior to computing prejudgment interest. This is simply the correct legal method, since the two awards arose out of the same contract. Moreover, Flanders' award actually arose first, meaning that the Radmans were never deprived of the use of their money.

Finally, the Radmans' "atmosphere of prejudice" argument is unsupported by any law. In addition, it is based upon only vague allegations of evidentiary and procedural

error. The Radmans were obligated to properly brief and argue those underlying assignments of error, which they failed to do.

Regarding the Cross-Appeal, the trial court erred in finding that the market protection clause of the Merger Agreement was ambiguous, since there is really only one interpretation of the language of the agreement that is plausible.

The trial court also erred in its interpretation of the market protection clause, as it added terms and computations and essentially rewrote the contract provision rather than restricting itself to interpreting the actual language used.

Finally, the trial court erred in finding that the Radmans were co-prevailing parties in this lawsuit, as guidance from this Court states that there can only be one prevailing party, and Flanders was that party.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Properly Admitted Evidence of the Radmans' Pre-Closing Statements.

The Radmans claim that the trial court improperly admitted “evidence regarding the parties’ pre-merger negotiations related to performance standards.” [See Appellant Brief, pp. 2 and 16.] Flanders notes that the Radmans do not specifically identify this allegedly improper evidence, do not provide citations to the record to identify where this allegedly improper evidence was presented, objected to and received (as required by *Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure* 24(e)), and do not demonstrate that this allegedly improper evidence was indeed improper. This argument is insufficiently briefed and

should be dismissed, since this Court “is not ‘a depository in which the appealing party may dump the burden of argument and research.’” *West Jordan City v. Goodman*, 2006 UT 27, ¶29, 135 P.3d 874.

Although Flanders is not sure exactly what evidence is being questioned, it does not matter, since the trial court’s ruling regarding the warranty of “good operating condition” is clearly based only on the contract language. The entirety of the trial court’s conclusions of law on this issue are as follows:

10. In deciding Flanders’ claim for breach of the Section 3(h) warranty, the Court must interpret the phrase “good operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted.”

11. Based on the evidence that has been presented, the Court finds that the arguments and the evidence that have been presented from both parties demonstrate that the phrase “good operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted” is only capable of one reasonable interpretation and that the phrase is therefore not ambiguous. *WebBank v. American General Annuity Service Corp.*, 2002 UT 88, ¶20.

12. Therefore, based on the evidence presented at trial, the Court interprets the phrase “good operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted” to mean that the equipment performs the function expected of a similar piece of equipment in the industry to the standards of the industry, modified to take into account the effects of the equipment’s age and prior wear.

13. The industry standard for a melter is consistent operation 24 hours a day, seven days a week at least 90% of the time.

14. At the time of the merger and the Closing, the electric melters did not conform to this standard, as they would break often and for various reasons.

15. Accordingly, the Radmans breached their warranty that the assets of GFI would be in “good operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted” as of the date of the merger and the date of Closing.

None of these findings mention any pre-merger statements or other parol evidence, nor have the Radmans' shown how these findings were in some way influenced by such evidence. Therefore, even if the trial court committed error, which it did not, any such error was harmless and does not warrant reversal. *See Cal Wadsworth Constr. v. City of St. George*, 898 P.2d 1372, 1378 (Utah 1995) ("An erroneous decision to admit or exclude evidence does not constitute reversible error unless the error is harmful.")

However, no error occurred, because the trial court was fully entitled to hear evidence of the course of negotiations and events prior to the merger (which appears to be the general universe of evidence the Radmans are objecting to) for at least two reasons: (1) to determine whether the warranties were in fact ambiguous, and (2) to determine whether the Radmans' breached the "no material misstatements" warranty. All of the evidence admitted at trial was properly admissible for these purposes. "Trial courts are afforded broad discretion in determining the admissibility of evidence; thus we will not disturb a trial court's ruling whether to admit or exclude evidence absent an abuse of discretion." *Lee v. Langley*, 2005 UT App 339, ¶9, 121 P.3d 33 (quoting *Vigil v. Division of Child & Family Servs.*, 2005 UT App 43, ¶8, 107 P.3d 716).

It is incontrovertible that the trial court was entitled to review "extrinsic evidence" to determine whether the warranties were in fact ambiguous. *See Nielsen v. Gold's Gym*, 2003 UT 37, ¶7, 78 P.3d 600; *Uintah Basin Med. Ctr. v. Hardy*, 2005 UT App 92, ¶13, 110 P.3d 168 (internal citations omitted). It is also clear that the trial court was entitled

to hear any and all facts offered for the purpose of proving that a breach occurred. *See Glauser Storage, L.L.C. v. Smedley*, 2001 UT App 141, ¶21, 27 P.3d 565 (parol evidence is evidence “offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated contract.” (emphasis added)). “Whether there was a breach of warranty is a question of fact” and the trial court, as the finder of fact in this bench trial, was entitled to hear all evidence relevant to whether a breach occurred. *Morris v. Parkinson*, 2001 UT App 69 (not for official publication) (quoting *Emerson-Brantingham Implement Co. v. Giles*, 59 Utah 54, 202 P. 543, 544 (Utah 1921)); *Shar's Cars, L.L.C. v. Elder*, 2004 UT App 258, ¶30, 97 P.3d 724. The trial court found that numerous Radman pre-merger statements constituted breaches of warranty, and the Radmans have not properly challenged those factual findings nor marshalled the evidence against those findings. [R. 4888-89.]

The category of evidence that the Radmans appear to object to was therefore properly admitted for the purposes for which it was used and the trial court’s evidentiary rulings should be affirmed.

II. The Court Properly Interpreted the Warranties.

Although not properly identified as an issue in the Radmans’ brief, the Radmans’ appear to argue that the trial court’s interpretations of two of the warranties at issue in this case were erroneous. The first relevant warranty is found in section 3(h) of the Merger Agreement (the “Good Operating Condition Warranty”), which states:

(h) Assets. Except as set forth on the Disclosure Schedule, GFI owns, possesses and controls and has good and marketable title to all of its assets, free and clear of any mortgage, lien, claim, effect, charge, encumbrance and right of third parties. **Such assets are in good operating condition and**

repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and conform to applicable ordinances, regulations, building, zoning and other laws and directives. GFI enjoys exclusive, peaceful and undisturbed possession under all equipment and other leases to which it is a party. All such leases are identified on the Disclosure Schedules, are valid and enforceable in accordance with their terms, and no party thereto is in default thereunder.

[Ex. P-1, Section 3(h), (emphasis added).] The second relevant warranty is the warranty found in Section 2(h) of the Merger Agreement (the “No Misrepresentations Warranty”), which states:

The GFI Shareholders [Radmans] have not made any material misstatement of fact or omitted to state any material fact necessary or desirable to make complete, accurate and not misleading every representation and warranty set forth herein.

[Ex. P-1, Section 2(h).] The trial court found that both of these warranties were unambiguous and proceeded to interpret them according to the language of the Merger Agreement. [R. 4887-4889.] The trial court’s interpretations are consistent with the Merger Agreement and prior case law, and are unremarkable. Although the Radmans’ brief contains much rhetoric about the trial court having gone beyond the language of the Merger Agreement, in the end the Radmans fail to show how the trial court did so.

A. The Trial Court Properly Interpreted the Good Operating Condition Warranty.

The trial court interpreted the language “‘good operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted’ to mean that the equipment performs the function expected of a similar piece of equipment in the industry to the standards of the industry, modified to take into account the effects of the equipment’s age and prior wear.” [R. 4889, ¶12.] This is a perfectly reasonable interpretation of the language used and is entirely consistent with the

Utah Supreme Court’s interpretation of “good condition and repair” as meaning “that the condition of the article is reasonably good, ‘comparing favorably with other articles of like kind, in view of the average quality of such articles.’” *Utah State Medical Ass’n v. Utah State Employees Credit Union*, 655 P.2d 643, 645 (Utah 1982). The case cited by the Utah Supreme Court in *Utah State Medical Ass’n* held that “when the word ‘good’ is used to describe the ‘quality’ or ‘condition’ of a chattel, it may be found to be an affirmation of fact that the chattel is sound, reliable and right, as opposed to the characterization ‘poor condition.’” *Schwartz v. Gross*, 93 Ohio App. 445, 451 (Ohio Ct. App. 1952).

In this case, the words “good operating condition” and the context of the Merger Agreement justified the trial court in determining that the condition of each piece of equipment should be compared to similar equipment “operating” in the industry. In any event, the trial court was entitled to hear evidence regarding any industry-specific meaning of the term “good operating condition”, as when “particular expressions have by trade usage acquired a different meaning, and both parties are engaged in that trade, the parties to the contract are deemed to have used them according to their different and peculiar sense as shown by such trade usage.” *Ermolieff v. R. K. O. Radio Pictures, Inc.*, 19 Cal. 2d 543, 550 (Cal. 1942); *see also Sunbeam Corp. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 566 Pa. 494, 501 (Pa. 2001) (“custom in the industry or usage in the trade is always relevant and admissible in construing commercial contracts”). This does not violate the parol evidence rule because “the usage evidence does not alter the contract of the parties, but

on the contrary gives the effect to the words there used as intended by the parties.” *Ermolieff*, 19 Cal. 2d at 550. The Radmans have failed to identify an alternate interpretation that comports with the contractual language or show that the trial court’s interpretation was erroneous. Accordingly, the trial court’s interpretation should be affirmed.

To be sure, the Good Operating Condition Warranty does require some factual findings. The warranty is broadly worded and applies to each separate piece of equipment owned by GFI. The trial court was required to determine factually what would be a similar piece of equipment, how it should perform, and whether the equipment at issue met that standard, and it did so with respect to the electric melters. [R. 4889.] These, however, are factual findings, and the Radmans have neither briefed this issue nor have they marshaled the evidence with respect to those factual findings. It is now too late for them to do so. Accordingly, the trial court’s findings related to this warranty must be assumed to be correct, and the trial court affirmed. *See Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶¶19 and 80, 100 P.3d 1177.

B. The Trial Court Properly Interpreted the No Misrepresentations Warranty.

The trial court’s interpretation of the No Misrepresentations Warranty is equally correct. The trial court interpreted the plain language of the provision as a warranty “that any statements of fact made by them [the Radmans] prior to November 26, 1997, were true and that the Radmans did not omit to tell Flanders any fact that would be ‘necessary or desirable to make complete, accurate and not misleading’ all of the other

representations and warranties in the Agreement, including the Section 3(d) and 3(h) warranties.” [R. 4887, ¶5.] This interpretation is also entirely consistent with the plain language of the provision, and the Radmans have not identified an alternate interpretation nor have they shown how this interpretation is erroneous.

Rather, the Radmans appear to object to the trial court’s factual findings that certain statements the Radmans made were “necessary or desirable” to inform Flanders as to the other warranties in the Merger Agreement. However, “trial courts are afforded broad discretion in determining the admissibility of evidence” and those determinations will only be disturbed if there is “an abuse of discretion.” *Lee v. Langley*, 2005 UT App 339, P9 (Utah Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Vigil v. Division of Child & Family Servs.*, 2005 UT App 43, P8, 107 P.3d 716). Whether a particular piece of evidence is relevant or helpful to a determination of whether a breach of a warranty has occurred is a factual determination, and again the Radmans failed to brief this issue or marshal the evidence with respect to these factual findings. Accordingly, the trial court’s interpretation of this warranty and factual determination that the Radmans breached this warranty by making numerous false representations regarding the electric melters [R. 4878-79] should be affirmed.

III. The Trial Court Used the Proper Standard for Damages

After finding that the electric melters did not meet the Good Operating Condition Warranty and that the Radmans breached the No Misstatements Warranty, the trial court was required to determine the damages suffered by Flanders. The measure of damages

for breach of a warranty, as correctly noted by the trial court [R. 4890 ¶16], is the excess of the value the asset would have had if it had been as warranted over the actual value of the asset. *See Brown v. Richards*, 840 P.2d 143, 150 (Utah App. 1992); UTAH CODE ANN. §70A-2-714.¹ In this case, the breach of the Good Operating Condition Warranty related to the condition of the electric melters. [R. 4889-90.] No warranty as to the condition or value of the GFI stock was at issue, and the cases cited by the Radmans related to the valuation of stock in dissenters rights cases are completely irrelevant.²

Therefore, the trial court was obligated to find the value of the electric melters as warranted and their actual value, the difference being one part of Flanders' damages. Of course, finding the value of an asset is not a matter of contract interpretation, but is an issue of fact. *See Hogle v. Zinetics Med., Inc.*, 2002 UT 121, ¶10, 63 P.3d 80; *Wasatch Bank v. Leany*, 727 P.2d 633, 634 (Utah 1986). The trial court correctly concluded, after hearing all of the evidence, that the value in this transaction was in the assets of GFI (and not its goodwill, trade name, client list, or other intangibles), and therefore, for purposes

¹ Although Flanders recognizes that the warranties at issue are not governed by the Utah Uniform Commercial Code, UTAH CODE ANN. §70A-2-101 et seq. ("UCC"), the result under the UCC is helpful to a resolution of this issue.

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